No. 114571

IN THE COURT OF APPEALS FOR THE STATE OF KANSAS

JONNI CULLISON, et al.,
Plaintiffs-Appellants,

v.

CITY OF SALINA, KANSAS
Defendant-Appellee,

BRIEF OF APPELLANTS
JONNI CULLISON, et al.

APPEAL FROM THE DISTRICT COURT OF SALINE COUNTY, KANSAS
TWENTY-EIGHTH JUDICIAL DISTRICT
THE HONORABLE WILLIAM B. ELLIOTT, JUDGE
DISTRICT COURT CASE NO. 14CV55

BARTIMUS, FRICKLETON, ROBERTSON & GOZA, P.C.

Michael C. Rader #19585
Michelle L. Marvel #23511
One Hallbrook Place
11150 Overbrook Road, Suite 200
Leawood, Kansas 66211
(913) 266-2300
(913) 266-2366 Fax
MRader@bflawfirm.com
MMarvel@bflawfirm.com

ATTORNEYS FOR PLAINTIFFS-APPELLANTS

NATURE OF THE CASE

This is a dangerous premises case following the electrocution death of 12-year-old Jayden Hicks. Jayden was exposed to electricity from an in-ground electrical junction box on May 29, 2013 that was located on a public city sidewalk in downtown Salina, Kansas. The electrical junction box, owned and maintained by the City of Salina, provided electricity to the decorative street lights lining the east side of Santa Fe Avenue. The junction box housed the electrical connections for wires running from the City of Salina's circuit breaker (located in Campbell Plaza) to the Santa Fe Avenue decorative street lights.

The City had been aware that the wiring inside the junction box was in poor condition prior to Jayden's electrocution. On the day of the incident, one of the connecting wires had short circuited and was arcing against the inside of the box. This exposed electrical current to the entire junction box, which resulted in the metal lid to the junction box becoming electrically charged with lethal voltage each and every time the decorative street lights were illuminated. The short occurred because the electrical wiring was "outdated," in "poor condition," "problematic" and "deteriorating." The City was aware of these problems dating back to at least 2007.

After the accident, investigators also determined that the junction box did not have the ground wire that all applicable electrical safety standards and common practice require. The purpose of a ground wire is to prevent the very condition that killed Jayden Hicks. After Jayden's electrocution, the Master Electrician for the City admitted that before the accident "he knew there was no ground wire as they had not installed the ground." He further disclosed "...if they had installed the ground wire, every time there was a power surge, it would trip the breaker and all he would get done would be resetting the breaker." Thus, had the city properly grounded

the electrical junction box, the short circuit would have "tripped" the circuit breaker (cut off the supply of electricity) and immediately de-energized the box. This would have saved Jayden Hicks' life. The junction box and the electrical connections it housed had never been inspected by the City in the 27 years since their installation. Simple maintenance consisting of merely opening the junction box would have quickly identified the lack of the required electrical ground and the defective wiring.

Plaintiffs' claims address the City's failure to safely maintain the subject electrical circuit that provided power to the downtown decorative street lights.

ISSUES ON APPEAL

1. Whether the trial court erred in applying the recreational use immunity provision of the Kansas Tort Claims Act (KTCA) found in K.S.A. 75-6104(o) to the sidewalk where Jayden Hicks was electrocuted?
2. Whether the trial court erred in concluding that the evidence was not sufficient to show that the City of Salina's conduct was gross and wanton?
3. Whether the trial court erred in applying the recreational use exception because the exception does not immunize municipalities for injuries or death caused while conducting an inherently dangerous activity on public property?

STATEMENT OF FACTS

Santa Fe Avenue in Salina, Kansas runs north and south and has been the principal street running through the downtown district since the 1930s. (ROA, Vol. 3:786). There are numerous businesses located on the 100 block of Santa Fe Avenue, including but not limited to Coop's Pizzeria, Salina Running Co., Quilting Bee, Martinelli's Little Italy and S&P Coin Stamp and Jewelry. (ROA, Vol. 3:745-748). The city sidewalk provides means for walking to and from all businesses located on the 100 block of Santa Fe Avenue. (ROA, Vol. 3:745-751). The sidewalk also houses an electrical junction box. (ROA, Vol. 3:947, Appendix i). The electrical junction box houses the electrical connections for wires running from the city's circuit breaker that provide power to the decorative street lights on Santa Fe Avenue. (ROA, Vol. 3:942-943).

Campbell Plaza is also located in downtown Salina, Kansas. (ROA, Vol. 3:745-751). Campbell Plaza is an open-air, staged plaza between 129 and 131 on the east side of South Santa Fe Avenue, in front of Coop's Pizzeria. *Id.* Campbell Plaza was created during the "streetscape" upgrades in the 1980s. *Id.* The city circuit breaker is in Campbell plaza. (ROA, Vol. 3:994-995).

On December 31, 2013 Jayden Hicks died from an electric shock she received on May 29 of that same year originating from the electrical junction box located on the city sidewalk between Campbell Plaza and Santa Fe Avenue. (ROA, Vol. 3:752-756). One of the connecting wires had short circuited and was arcing against the inside of the box. (ROA, Vol. 3:942). This exposed electrical current to the entire junction box, which resulted in the metal lid to the junction box becoming electrically charged with lethal voltage each and every time the decorative street lights were illuminated. (ROA, Vol. 3:783). Witnesses found her lying in a puddle of water that covered the electrical junction box and sidewalk of Santa Fe Avenue.

(ROA, Vol. 3:752-754). First responders described that Jayden Hicks was found on the city sidewalk, 13 feet north of the south end of Campbell Plaza and approximately 15 feet east of Santa Fe Avenue. (ROA, Vol. 3:752-753).

The City knew the underground wiring for the decorative street lights was in poor condition prior to Jayden Hick's death. More than 5 years prior, on October 8, 2007, Michael Fraser, Director of Public Works for the City, wrote a memo to Jason Gage, City Manager, stating, "[T]he underground wiring for all the pedestrian lanterns is very old and problematic. How will painting the lanterns address this old underground wiring?" (ROA, Vol. 3:961-962). The wiring referenced in the October 2007 memo included the wiring contained in the subject electrical junction box. *Id.* Approximately eighteen months later on March 31, 2009, the City of Salina evaluated the downtown decorative lighting system. (ROA, Vol. 3:964-966). The City's March 31, 2009 memo stated: "The wiring and general condition of the electrical system is in fair to poor condition. The wiring has contributed to the recurring outages we experience in the downtown area. We have had to replace or repair some of the underground wiring to keep the lanterns operational." This memo also described the condition of the wiring as "Fair to Poor." *Id.*

In April 2009, the City received a Development of Lighting Recommendations Report from BWR Electrical Services¹, which found: "The existing lighting has been in place for over 20 years and electrical equipment (lamps, ballasts, wiring) will continue to deteriorate at an increasing rate." (ROA, Vol. 3:970) (emphasis added). Additionally, it stated, "The existing system has been in service for over 20 years and is reaching the end of its useful life." (ROA, Vol. 3:968-971). On February 23, 2010, Larry Stross, V.P. for BWR, emailed the City Manager

¹ BWR Electrical Services was the electrical contractor hired by the City of Salina to evaluate the downtown electrical circuits related to the decorative street lights.

stating, “[W]e will need to replace all existing wiring and conduit that is currently under the sidewalk.” (ROA, Vol. 3:973). Again, this highlighted the problems with the downtown electrical wiring system. *Id.* In June 2010, the Final BWR Report and Recommendations again found that, “the existing lighting has been in place for over 20 years and electrical equipment (lamps, ballasts, wiring) will continue to deteriorate at an increasing rate.” (ROA, Vol. 3:975-976). It also reiterates that the “existing system is reaching the end of its useful life.” (ROA, Vol. 3:975-976).

On January 4, 2011, the City of Salina conducted a second evaluation of the downtown decorative lighting system. (ROA, Vol. 3:978-979). The City’s January 4, 2011 memo downgraded the condition of the wiring to “Poor” from “Fair to Poor”. This downgrade confirmed that the wiring was continuing to deteriorate just as the City had been warned. *Id.* Additionally, the City’s January 4, 2011 memo stated: “The recurring maintenance problems we experience with our downtown lanterns may be contributed to the poor condition of the electrical connections and wiring.” *Id.* (emphasis added).

Michael Fraser, the Director of the Public Works Department, was ultimately responsible for the subject electrical circuit (subject wiring, electrical connections, conduit and junction box). (ROA, Vol. 3:984, 994). As of January 28, 2013, still four months prior to Jayden Hicks’ electrocution, the City knew the decorative streetlights and the wiring had exceeded their rated life expectancy and was further aware that the electrical system had required significant maintenance over the preceding years². (ROA, Vol. 3:988-989). Indeed, prior to Jayden Hicks’ death, the City had considered replacing the downtown electrical lighting system in part due to

² The City of Salina contracted with Johnson Controls to perform an investment grade audit of the downtown lighting system, and ultimately contracted with them to replace it. (ROA, Vol. 3:988).

concerns for the safety of the citizens. (ROA, Vol. 3:990). Yet despite notice of the potentially dangerous condition of the downtown decorative lighting system, the City did not replace the system due to cost. (ROA, Vol. 3:987-988, Deposition of Michael Fraser):

Q: And in response to the reports dated March 31st, 2009, and January 4th of 2011 where it's identified to the City that the wiring to the downtown decorative streetlights were in a poor to fair condition there was some discussion about trying to replace the wiring; correct?

A: That's correct.

Q: And I believe after a review of one of these documents that it was decided not to do it out of -- due to cost concerns; correct?

A: I think that would be -- I think that would be a fair statement.

Q: In the January of 2011 report the overall conclusion is that the downtown -- that "The recurring maintenance problems we experience with our downtown lanterns may be contributed to the poor condition of the electrical connections and wiring..." Did you read that?

A: Yes, sir.

Q: And that's knowledge the City had before this accident; correct?

A: That is correct.

(ROA, Vol. 3:987-988).

As of May 2013 the City was responsible for the safety, inspection and maintenance of the electrical wires that ran from the circuit breaker to the downtown decorative streetlights, which met in the subject junction box and the junction box itself. (ROA, Vol. 3:985-986).

However, the City neglected to maintain the lines and inspect or maintain the junction box for over 26 years. (ROA, Vol. 3:983-986, Deposition of Michael Fraser).

Q: And you agree that as -- the City of Salina as a provider of those electrical lines from the circuit breaker to the lights, that the City has a duty to maintain those lines safely; correct?

A: That's correct.

Q: And you agree that back in May of 2013 and before that, that the City had a responsibility to inspect and maintain those lines safely; correct?

A: I would assume that that would be the case.

(ROA, Vol. 3:983) (emphasis added).

Q: But certainly because those are City lines, the City had a responsibility at some point to inspect and maintain those lines; correct?

A: I would assume that that would be the case.

(ROA, Vol. 3:983) (emphasis added).

Q: And the electrical system that runs from the circuit breaker to the lights and between the lights is the responsibility of the City; correct?

A: Yeah, that's my understanding, is that because that's all part of the system that activates the lights is that the City has responsibility for that.

Q: And the City has an ongoing responsibility to provide maintenance to that electrical system; correct?

A: I would believe that would be correct.

Q: And the City's responsibility would also be to ensure that this electrical system that runs from the breaker to the decorative streetlights is Code compliant; correct?

A: I would believe that would be correct.

Q: And the City would have an ongoing duty to make sure that that system is Code compliant; correct?

A: I would believe that would be correct.

(ROA, Vol. 3:985-986).

Also as of May 2013, the City had responsibility to ensure that the subject electrical junction box complied with the National Electrical Code, which required a grounding wire. (ROA, Vol. 3:984). Yet despite repeated notice of problems and the overall poor condition of the downtown decorative lighting circuitry prior to the Jayden Hicks incident, the City did not inspect the lines between the circuit breaker and the downtown decorative street lights, including the subject junction box. (ROA, Vol. 3:988).

The City's Master Electrician, Steve Adams, began his employment with the City of Salina in 2009. (ROA, Vol. 3:1000-1001). His job responsibilities included inspecting, repairing and troubleshooting issues related to the downtown decorative streetlights. (ROA, Vol. 3:996-997, 1008-1009). Adams' job responsibilities further included assuring the City's compliance with City policies and building, health and safety codes applicable to the electrical trade, which includes the National Electrical Code. (ROA, Vol. 3:996-997, 1008-1009). The National Electrical Code required that the subject junction box be grounded. (ROA, Vol. 3:997).

Prior to the Jayden Hicks' electrocution, the City did not make its Master Electrician aware of the reports addressing the downtown decorative lighting system, including the March

31, 2009 and January 4, 2011 memos describing the system and wiring as "fair to poor" and "poor" respectively. (ROA, Vol. 3:998). The City's Master Electrician testified that if he had known about the March 31, 2009 and January 4, 2011 memos prior to May of 2013, he would have inspected the system, including, but not limited to, looking inside the subject electrical junction box. (ROA, Vol. 3:998). The following exchange took place regarding the City Electrician's review of the March 31, 2009 and January 4, 2011 memos during his deposition: (ROA, Vol. 3:1001, Deposition of Steve Adams).

Q: There's a report -- or an indication in this report of how many ballasts were changed on these lights. Can you find that portion of the report and read for the record how many ballasts were changed?

A: "Since 2005 we have had to replace seventy-eight ballasts."

Q: Does that seem like a lot of ballasts to you?

MR. NORDSTROM: Object to the form.

A: There's a lot of lights.

Q: A lot of lights. Do you know how many lights?

A: Off the top of my head, no, I do not.

Q: Can ballasts fail because of overcurrent problems?

A: Yes.

Q: As a master electrician would that cause you concern if you saw that many ballasts in that system being replaced?

A: Yes.

Q: Would that be indicative to you that there was something wrong with the entire wiring system in the downtown lighting system?

MR. NORDSTROM: Object to the form.

A: It would depend.

Q: Okay. But it would raise some questions for you?

A: Yes, it would raise questions.

Q: And as a master electrician what you would do is you'd go investigate, wouldn't you, because you told us that earlier in the deposition in response to questions by Mr. Rader?

A: That's correct.

Q: Do you remember that?

A: Yeah.

Q: Because those are the kinds of things that you're supposed to do when you see that information come across your desk or someone presented to you. "We've got an electrical problem, figure out what's doing this"?

MR. NORDSTROM: Object to the form.

Q: Is that a pretty much accurate statement that I just made?

A: Correct.

Q: And nobody did that?

A: Explain by nobody doing -- nobody coming to me and explaining to me --

Q: Yes, sir.

A: -- what they found, correct.

Q: Yes, sir. And certainly nobody did that before this tragic accident happened?

A: Correct.

(ROA, Vol. 3:1001).

Adams further testified that prior to Jayden Hicks' death, it was not his duty to inspect or maintain the downtown decorative street lights. (ROA, Vol. 3:995). Rather, he said that the public works department was responsible for inspection and maintenance of the downtown decorative street lights. (ROA, Vol. 3:995). However, the public works employees charged with responsibility for inspection and maintenance of the downtown decorative street lights were not electricians. (ROA, Vol. 3:1002-1003). From 2005 -2011, the City had to re-wire portions of the downtown underground wiring on 10 -- 20 occasions, replace 118 ballasts and 657 light bulbs (ROA, Vol. 3: 1001, 1016-1022). This maintenance record further confirmed the extremely poor condition of the underground electrical wiring. (ROA, Vol. 3: 1001, 1016-1022).

Although disclaiming any responsibility to inspect the underground circuitry, following Jayden Hicks' electrocution the City's Master Electrician admitted that he knew prior to the accident that there was no ground wire present in the electrical junction box. (ROA, Vol. 3:943, 1012). He explained his failure to act by stating that if they had installed the ground wire, every time there was a power surge it would trip the breaker and all he would get done would be resetting the breaker. (ROA, Vol. 3:943, 1012). He agreed that the lack of ground in the junction box violated the National Electrical Code ("NEC"). (ROA, Vol. 3:997).

After Jayden Hicks was electrocuted, on August 5, 2013 Michael Fraser authored a Request for City Commission Action where he reported, "[D]ue to the age and life cycle status of the existing underground wiring as discussed in the final 2009 BWR Downtown Lighting Report and a recent lighting system evaluation by City staff, staff has re-evaluated the replacement of the existing underground wiring." (ROA, Vol. 3:1014).

Fraser further testified:

Q: But certainly with the information you've been provided in Exhibits 8, 10 and 11 (2009 and 2011 Jim Teutsch memos discussed above that pre-dated the accident), one of the reasons why you wanted to update the system was for the safety of the citizens; correct?

A: I would say yes. I mean, I -- I would think that yes, that the idea -- the replacement of the system is that we wanted a system that was safe, that is correct, that is correct.

Q: And the changes to that system, despite knowing about the concerns dating back to 2009, didn't occur until after May of 2013, correct?

A: Yes.

(ROA, Vol. 3:990) (emphasis added).

Plaintiffs also retained an electrical engineering expert witness, John Palmer PhD, P.E., C.F.E.I., who reviewed the design plans for the accident scene, blueprints, investigative reports, photographs, and performed two separate inspections regarding the accident scene and subject junction box. (See ROA, Vol. 3:1024, Affidavit of John A. Palmer). Mr. Palmer offered the opinion that the City of Salina's negligence regarding their control, maintenance and management of the subject electrical junction box was gross and wanton and the cause of Jayden Hick's death. *Id.*

On September 28, 2015, the District Court entered summary judgment for the defendant. (ROA, Vol. 4:1111-1116). The trial court found that the City of Salina is immune from responsibility pursuant to K.S.A. 75-6104(o), the recreational use exception to liability under the Kansas Tort Claims Act, and that prior to the incident the City did not have notice of a dangerous

condition to support a claim for gross and wanton conduct. *Id.* However, the trial court's order does not address the comments made by the Master Electrician for the City regarding his pre-existing knowledge that there was no ground wire in the subject junction box. *Id.*

ARGUMENTS AND AUTHORITIES

I. Standard of Review for Summary Judgment.

On appeal from a grant of summary judgment, when there is no factual dispute, the standard of review is de novo. *Kuxhausen v. Tillman Partners, L.P.*, 291 Kan. 314, 318, 241 P.3d 75, 80 (2010). In evaluating the propriety of summary judgment, the Court of Appeals applies the same principles as the trial court and, where reasonable minds could differ as to the conclusions drawn from the evidence, summary judgment must be denied. *Estate of Draper v. Bank of America, N.A.*, 288 Kan. 510, 517, 205 P.3d 698 (2009).

Summary judgment is appropriate only where the record reflects there is an absence of a genuine dispute regarding the material facts and the movant is entitled to judgment as a matter of law. *Kuxhausen v. Tillman Partners, L.P.*, 291 Kan. 314, 318, 241 P.3d 75, 80 (2010). The trial court is required to resolve all facts and inferences which may be reasonably drawn from the evidence in favor of the party against whom summary judgment is sought. *Estate of Brodbeck v. James*, 22 Kan.App.2d 229, 235, 915 P.2d 145 (1996). Further, a trial court may not pass on credibility or balance and weigh evidence on a summary judgment motion. *Kaplinger v. Carter*, 9 Kan.App.2d 287, 293, 676 P.2d 1300 (1984).

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