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

BWR identified was: 

"Do nothing. Maintain the existing lighting system as it is. The age of 
the existing street lighting, and pedestrian lighting, poles and fixtures will 
cause the amount of maintenance required to increase. The existing 
lighting has been in place for over 20 years and electrical equipment 
(lamps, ballasts, wiring) will continue to deteriorate at an increasing rate." 

(R. Vol. 3, p. 970). Given that one of the options BWR proposed was to do nothing, its 

2009 report cannot have created actual or constructive knowledge of an imminent danger. 

Although Appellants cite the February 23, 2010 e-mail from Larry Stoss at BWR 

to Mr. Fraser, which states: "We will need to replace all existing wiring and conduit that 

is currently under the sidewalk," that statement was made in reference to the work that 

would be completed if the City agreed to undertake Stoss' s proposal to replace the 

existing system with new LED lighting fixtures. Thus, this language is wholly 

immaterial to the question of whether the City's conduct was gross and wanton. 

Appellants next cite to BWR's June 2010 report, which again states: 'The 

existing system has been in service for over 20 years and is reaching the end of its useful 
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life. A new raceway system and conductors would provide the City with an expected 

useful life of 20 years." Like BWR's report from 2009, however, the 2010 BWR report 

does not identify any danger or safety concern regarding the City's lighting system.3 

Finally, Appellants cite to a January 4, 2011 memorandum from the City's 

operations manager, Jim Teutsch, to public works director Michael Fraser that evaluated 

the wiring inside the decorative lanterns as "poor" on a scale from "very good" to "very 

poor." (R. Vol. 3, p. 977). In the memorandum, Teutsch reflects that the "wiring from 

the ballasts (located at the base of the lantern poles) to the luminaires are in poor 

condition, which contributes to the recurring outages we experience." Id. As noted in the 

City's reply in support of summary judgment, the January 4, 2011 memo is limited to the 

wiring from the top of the lanterns to the bottom of the lanterns, and thus does not 

implicate the wiring inside the junction box. Further, the memorandum does not identify 

any safety concern, and thus cannot establish gross and wanton negligence. 

Despite the fact that Appellants have not identified any evidence indicating the 

City knew or should have known its electrical wiring posed an imminent danger, 

Appellants now suggest the culmination of these reports was sufficient to create a 

question of fact on the issue. This argument is akin to suggesting that even though a 

series of numbers individually multiplied by zero may each equal zero, if that same series 

of numbers is added together and then multiplied by zero, a different outcome will be 

reached. Kansas law does not require such a result. Although Appellant has accurately 

quoted Howse v. Weinrich, 133 Kan. 132,298 P. 766, 767 (1931), the court's justification 

30nly brief excerpts of the 2010 BWR report are part of the record on appeal. However, for purposes of 
clarity, Appellee would point out that like the 2009 BWR report, the 2010 BWR report, a full copy of 
which is attached to this brief, listed "Do nothing" as one of the City's options with respect to the electrical 
circuit at issue. 
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for viewing the defendant's conduct in the aggregate was that "[e]ach act bore a relation 

to the others, and the cumulative effect was injury to plaintiff." Unlike Howse or Reeves 

v. Carlson, 266 Kan. 310,969 P.2d 252 (1998), the documents identified by Appellants 

are not cumulative conditions that as a whole, contributed to an accident. Instead, these 

exhibits reflect the same general information, presented at different times to different 

individuals. The summation of the documents in this case cannot establish gross and 

wanton conduct where the individual documents themselves fail to do so. 

Appellants have failed to present any evidence from which a trier of fact could 

find that the City had one of the two requisite mindsets necessary for a finding of gross 

and wanton negligence-realization of imminent danger. See Muhn, 196 Kan. at 716. 

"Without knowledge of a dangerous condition, indifference to the consequences does not 

become a consideration." Lanning By & Through Lanning v. Anderson, 22 Kan.App.2d 

474,481,921 P.2d 813 (1996). The district court correctly held that Appellants failed to 

present evidence from which the trier of fact could find that the City's actions were gross 

and wanton, and its ruling should be affirmed. 

b. Adams' testimony does not establish gross and wanton negligence. 

In addition to the reports discussed supra, Appellants raise two areas from the 

deposition of the City's master electrician, Steven Adams, from which they contend the 

trier of fact could have found the City's conduct to be gross and wanton. 

Appellants first claim that gross and wanton negligence could have been inferred 

from testimony by Sergeant Furbeck that after the accident, he heard Mr. Adams say he 

knew there was no ground wire in the junction box. There are multiple problems with 

this argument. The parties agree the junction box was installed in 1987 and was not 
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opened from that time until after this incident. (R. Vol. 3, 784, 919). It is also 

undisputed that Mr. Adams was not employed by the City at the time the junction box 

was installed. (R. Vol. 4, p. 1060; Adams Deposition 71:7-18). As it is without dispute 

that Adams was not present when the box was installed in 1987 and further undisputed 

that he never inspected inside the box prior to this incident, Adams plainly lacked 

personal knowledge of the box's condition either at the time of installation or at any time 

prior to the incident. Moreover, Adams testified that during the inspection after the 

accident, he then came to the logical conclusion that the box must not have been 

grounded because if it had been grounded, "it would have tripped the breaker and we 

would have known about a problem a long time ago, or whenever [ a short] would have 

happened." (R. Vol. 3, p. 828; Adams Deposition 36:1-5). Although Appellants contend 

that the City knew there was no grounding wire prior to this accident, the district court 

correctly held that no evidence supported that position. (R. Vol 4, p. 1115-1116). 

The second area from which Appellants erroneously contend Adams' testimony 

should have created an issue of fact stems from testimony that although Adams had not 

seen the City's March 31, 2009 or January 4, 2011 until after this accident, if he had, he 

would have inspected the inside of the junction box. See Brief of Appellant, p. 31-33. 

Adams' testimony is incapable of creating a genuine issue of material fact for two 

reasons. First, wantonness is a state of mind. See Elliot v. Peters, 163 Kan. 631, 634, 

185 P.2d 139 (1947). Because Adams undisputedly had not seen the reports prior to this 

accident, his testimony about what he would have done if he had is immaterial to whether 

the City or its employees possessed the requisite state of mind on the date of the accident. 

{T0440392} 27 



Second, Adams' testimony is inadmissible. Opinion testimony from a lay witness 

is only admissible if "rationally based on the perception of the witness" and "helpful to a 

clearer understanding of his or her testimony." K.S.A. 60-456. "Perceive" means 

"acquire knowledge through one's own senses." See K.S.A. 60-459( c ). Pure speculation 

is not admissible into evidence. Hagood v. Hall, 211 Kan. 46, 52, 505 P.2d 736 (1973). 

A witness must "show personal knowledge. It is not enough for a witness to tell all she 

knows; she must know all she tells." Carmen v. San Francisco Unified School District, 

237 F.3d 1026, 1028 (9th Cir. 2001). 

In Messenger v. Bucyrus-Erie Co., 507 F.Supp. 41, 42 (W.D. Pa. 1980) affd, 672 

F.2d 903 (3d Cir. 1981), a products liability case related to the absence of a back-up 

buzzer or lights, the district court considered the admissibility of the following statement 

from the plaintiff: "If I had had a back up light, I wouldn't have got hurt. I would have 

been under that trailer so fast you wouldn't know what happened." 507 F.Supp. at 42. 

Relying on F.R.E. 701, the federal equivalent of K.S.A. 60-456(a), the court held that the 

testimony was inadmissible speculation because it was neither based on the witness's 

"perceptions" nor "helpful to a clear understanding of his testimony .... " Id. at 43. 

Other cases are in accord. See, e.g., Kloepfer v. Honda Motor Co., Ltd., 898 F.2d 1452, 

1456 (10th Cir. 1990) (witness's testimony that if he had been presented with a proper 

ATV warning, he would have obeyed it was inadmissible speculation); Magoffe v. JLG 

Indus., Inc., 2008 WL 296765, at *32 (D.N.M. May 7, 2008) affd, 375 F. App'x 848 

(10th Cir. 2010) (F.R.E. 701 does not permit a lay witness to testify as to what he would 

have done in a hypothetical scenario he or she never actually perceived). 
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Like the witnesses in Messenger and Kloepfer, there is no dispute that Mr. Adams 

did not read the 2009 or 2011 reports prior to this incident. As such, Adams' opinion 

testimony about what he would have done if he had seen the reports is neither (a) based 

on his actual perceptions, or (b) helpful to a clearer understanding of his testimony. 

Because Adams' speculation is inadmissible, it was incapable of creating a genuine issue 

of material fact, and the district court did not err in granting the City summary judgment. 

See Seitz v. The Lawrence Bank, 36 Kan. App.2d 283, 298, 138 P.3d 388 (2006) (where 

the only evidence put forth by plaintiff is speculation, there is no genuine issue of 

material fact). 

c. Palmer's testimony does not establish gross and wanton negligence. 

Appellants also claim that a trier of fact could have found the City's conduct to be 

gross and wanton based on the affidavit of their expert, John Palmer. In his affidavit, 

Palmer expresses the following opinion: 

"I've reviewed the design plans for the accident scene, blueprints, 
investigative reports, photographs, in addition to performing two (2) 
separate sight [sic] inspections and inspection regarding the subject 
junction box. It is my opinion that the City of Salina was not only 
negligent, but also showed gross and wanton negligence regarding their 
control, maintenance and management of the subject electrical junction 
box and such negligence and gross/wanton negligence proximately caused 
Jayden Hick's [sic] injury." 

R. Vol. 3, p. 1024. 

Appellants cannot defeat summary judgment by relying on inadmissible evidence. 

See Kan. Sup. Ct. Rule 14l(d) ("A party may object that the material cited to suppcnt or 

dispute a fact cannot be presented in a form that would be admissible in evidence."), 

Palmer's unadorned legal conclusions that the City's conduct was (1) negligent, and (2) 

gross and ,,vanton, are inadmissible and thus incapable of defeating summary judgment 
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See Estate of Belden v. Brown Cnty., 46 Kan.App.2d 247,285,261 P.3d 943 (2011) 

(expert's affidavit that "repeatedly offers his opinion that various aspects of the 

defendant's operation reflected 'negligence' and 'deliberate indifference"' provided 

inadmissible legal conclusions); Puckett v. Mt. Carmel Reg'l Med. Ctr., 290 Kan. 406, 

409, 228 P.3d 1048 (2010) ("Testimony expressing a legal conclusion should ordinarily 

be excluded because such testimony is not the way in which a legal standard should be 

communicated to the jury."); Frase v. Henry, 444 F.2d 1228, 1231 (10th Cir. 1971) 

(unadorned legal conclusions are inadmissible opinion testimony under K.S.A. 60-456). 

Palmer's proffered testimony is inadmissible and the district court did not err by refusing 

to deny defendant's motion for summary judgment on the basis of Palmer's affidavit. 

III. The district court did not err in applying recreational use immunity to an 
electrical junction box. 

Finally, Appellants argue that the district court erred in applying recreational use 

immunity because (1) the City's underground lighting circuit is an "inherently 

dangerous" activity and (2) K.S.A. 75-6104(0) does not apply to inherently dangerous 

activities. Appellants are wrong on both counts. 

a. The City's conduct is not inherently dangerous. 

Whether an activity is "inherently dangerous" is a question of law. Falls v. Scott, 

249 Kan. 54, 61-62, 815 P.2d 1104 (1991). The Kansas Supreme Court has explained: 

'To be inherently dangerous, a commodity or condition must be so 
imminently dangerous in kind as to imperil the life or limb of any person 
who uses it, or, burdened with a latent danger or dangers that derive from 
the very nature of the commodity or condition itself and not from any 
defect in the thing. 'Inherently dangerous' has also been said to mean a 
type of danger inhering in an instrumentality or condition itself at all 
times, requiring special precautions to be taken to prevent injury, and not a 
danger arising from mere casual or collateral negligence of others under 
particular circumstances. Instrumentalities or substances which, by their 
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very nature are calculated to do injury are considered to be dangerous per 
se. An instrumentality is dangerous per se if it may inflict injury without 
the immediate application of human aid." 

Id. at 58 ( emphasis added). 

Appellants cite to Cope v. Kan. Power & Light Co., 192 Kan. 755, 761, 391 P.2d 

107 (1964) for the premise that electrical wiring is "inherently dangerous." The problem 

with this position is that the "inherently dangerous" instrumentality in Cope was an 

uninsulated, above-ground 7200-volt transmission line. See 192 Kan. at 755-56. The 

Supreme Court concluded that such lines were inherently dangerous because "the 

ordinary person has no means of knowing whether any particular wire is carrying a 

deadly current or is harmless .... " Id. at 761. 

Unlike the wire in Cope or the authority cited therein, it is undisputed that the 

electrical wiring in this case was both insulated and underground. Thus, the primary 

justification for the court's decision in Cope is inapplicable here. Further, the city's 

master electrician, Steve Adams, while explaining how the junction box could have 

become electrically charged, testified: 

"Q: All right. Okay. Now, for this - - this tragic event to have 
occurred we had to have these two wires that are shown, for 
example, in Exhibit 7, such that the insulation was gone and 
they were able to either make metal-to-metal contact or arc across 
a gap to the cover; correct? 

A: Correct." 

(R. Vol. 3, p. 829; Adams depo. 134:12-18). 

Adams' testimony establishes that the danger associated with the City's 

underground wiring derived from the fact that part of the wiring inside the box had 

deteriorated to the point of no longer being insulated. Deteriorated insulation is a defect, 
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not an inherent danger. See e.g., Voelker v. Delmarva Power & Light Co., 727 F. Supp. 

991, 995 (D. Md. 1989) ("Injuries caused by contact with electrical wires are usually the 

result of negligence on the part of either the power company, the victim, or a third-party. 

Injuries do not generally occur because of the nature of the activity itself ... As such, 

claims arising out of this unfortunate accident are better suited for resolution through 

traditional negligence claims."). Thus, the City's electrical wiring circuit is not 

inherently dangerous as a matter of law. 

b. K.S.A. 75-6104(0) applies to inherently dangerous conduct. 

Appellants take the position that K.S.A. 75-6104(0) does not apply to inherently 

dangerous activities. This premise stems from Deavers v. Bd. of Cnty. Com 'rs of Lyon 

Cnty., 2015 WL 715909, 342 P.3d 970 (Feb. 6, 2015). Importantly, neither Deavers nor 

any other Kansas case has ever held that inherently dangerous activities fall outside the 

scope of K.S.A. 75-6104(0). Instead, Appellants appear to suggest that K.S.A. 75-

6104(0) was not intended to apply to inherently dangerous activities based solely on the 

following statement by the court in Deavers: 

"[Appellants] argue the legislature never intended the government to be 
shielded from liability for injuries or death to its citizens caused by an 
inherently dangerous activity conducted by the government on public 
property. They claim caselaw has expanded the recreational use exception 
beyond its intended purpose and has made government immunity the rule 
and liability the exception. We acknowledge some amenability to this 
argument, but unfortunately, the Deavers did not proffer such an argument 
before the district court, and the long-standing general rule is that issues 
not raised before the district court cannot be raised on appeal." 

2015 WL 715909 at *7. 

Neither the appellants in Deavers, nor Appellants in this case have ever cited any 

authority that supports their bald assertion that the legislature did not intend for K.S.A.

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